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STEVEN B. WOLFSO

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

WILLIAM CHARLES ROWLES
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #013577

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
_ CASE NO: C-21-356689-1
Plaintiff,
-VS- DEPT NO: XVIII

CHRISTOPHER TRUSCA, aka,
Christopher Adam Trusca #2741887,

Defendant. INFORMATION
STATE OF NEVADA

SS.

COUNTY OF CLARK

STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District Attorney within and for the County of Clark, State
of Nevada, in the name and by the authority of the State of Nevada, informs the Court:

That CHRISTOPHER TRUSCA, aka, Christoph__er Adam Trusca, the Defendant above
named, having committed the crime of POSSESSION OF VISUAL PRESENTATION
DEPICTING SEXUAL CONDUCT OF A CHILD (Category B Felony - NRS 200.700,
200.730 - NOC 50374), on or about the 16th day of September, 2018, within the County of
Clark, State of Nevada, contrary to the form, force and effect of statutes in such cases made
and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Nevada, did willfully,
unlawfully, feloniously, and knowingly have in his possession any film, photograph, or other
visual presentation depicting a child under the age of 16 years of age as the subject of a sexual

portrayal and/or engaging in, simulating, or assisting others to engage in or simulate sexual

V:\2020\307\1 1120203071 1C-INFM-(TRUSCA, CHRISTOPHER)-001.DOCX
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conduct on a device, to-wit: a Dropbox Cloud storage account for username "Chris Buddy"

and/or an Apple iPhone X, bearing Serial No. GHLX720KJCLF.

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

WILH H ES ROWLES
Chief Depuyty District Attorney
Nevada Bdr #013577
20CRH001251/mlb/SVU
LVMPD EV#181000131108
(TK)
2

V:A20200307\1 1120203071 1C-INFM-(TRUSCA, CHRISTOPHER)-001.DOCX

AA 0002




o

Electronically File
(12012021 111 P
CteCen D. Jrierson

CLER! OF THE CO[E ’:

GPA

STEVEN B, WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565 ‘
WILLIAM CHARLES ROWLES
Chief D%:)uty District Attorney
Nevada Bar #013577

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, |
“Vs- CASE NO: C-21-356689-1
CHRISTOPHER TRUSCA, aka, : ) I
Christopher Adam Trusca #2741887, DEPT NO: Xvill
Defendant. ‘
GUILTY PLEA AGREEMENT

1 _heréby agreé to ﬁlead guilty to: POSSESSION OF VISUAL PRESENTATION
DEPICTING SEXUAL CONDUCT OF A CHILD (Category B Felony - NRS 200.709,
200.730 - NOC 503‘74), as more fully allegedvin the charging document attached hereto as
Exhibit "1".

My decision to plead guilty is based upon the plea agreement in this case which is as
follows: |

The partiés both fetain.the right to argue. The State will have no opposition to removing
electronic monitoring at entry of plea. |

1 agree to the foffeiture of any and all electronic storage devices, computers, and/or
related équiplhent and/ or.weapons or any interest in any electronic storage devices, computers
and/or related equipment and/or weapons seized and/or impounded in connection with the
instant case and/or ény other case negotiated in whole or in part in conjunction with this plea

agreement.
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I understand and agree that, if I fail to interview with the Department of Parole and

Probation (P&P), fail to appear at any subsequent hearings in this case, or an independent

magistrate, by affidavit review, confirms probable cause against me for new criminal charges
including reckless driving or DU, but excluding minor traffic violations, the State will have
the unqualified right to argue for any legal sentence and term of confinement allowable for the
crime(s) to which I am pleading guilty, including the use of any prior convictions I may have
to increase my sentence as an habitual criminal to five (5) to twenty (20) years, Life without
the possibility of parole, Life with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years, or a definite
twenty-five (25) year term with the possibility of parole after ten (10) years.

Otherwise I am entitled to receive the benefits of these negotiations as stated in this

~ plea agreement.

CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLEA
I understand that by pleading guilty I admit the facts which support all the elements of

the offense(s) to which I now plead as set forth in Exhibit "1".

I understand that as a consequence of my plea of guilty the Court must sentence me to
imprisonment in the Nevada Department of Corrections for a minimum term of not less than
ONE (1) year and a maximum term of not more than SIX (6) years. The minimum term of
imprisonment may not exceed forty percent (40%) of the maximum term of imprisonment. I
understand that I may also be fined up to $5,000.00. I understand that the law requires me to
pay an Administrative Assessment Fee.

1 ﬁnderstand that, if appropﬁate, I will be ordered to make restitution to the victim of
the offense(s) to which I am pleading guilty and to the victim of any related offense which is

being dismissed or not prosecuted pursuant to this agreement. I will also be ordered to

_reimburse the State of Nevada for any expenses related to my extradition, if any.

I understand that pursuant to NRS 176.139 and my plea of guilty to a sexual offense for
which the suspension of sentence or the granting of probation is permitted, P&P shall arrange
for a psychosexual evaluation as part of the Division’s Presentence Investigation (PSI) Report
to the court.

2 :
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I understand that I am not eligible for probation pursuant to NRS 176A.110 unless the
psychosexual evaluation certifies that I do not represent a high risk to reoffend based upon a
currently accepfed standard of assessment. I understand that, except as otherwise provided by
statute, the question of whether I receive probation is in the discretion of the sentencing judge.

I understand that, before I am eligible for parole a panel consisting of the Administrator

of the Mental Health and Developmentai Services of the Department of Human Resources or
his designee; the Director of the Department of Corrections or his designee; and a psychologist
licensed to practice in this state or a psychiatrist licensed to practice medicine in this state
certifies that I was under observation while confined in an institution of the department of
corrections and that I do not represent a high risk to reoffend based upon a currently accepted
standard of assessment. | ,

] understand that the Cdurt will include as part of my sentence, in addition to any other
penalties provided by law, pursuant to NRS 179D.441 to 17 9D.550, inclusive, I must register
as a sex offender w1th1n forty-eight (48) hours of release from custody onto probation or parole.

1 understand that I must submit to blood and/or sahva tests under the direction of P&P
to determine genetic markers and/or secretor status.

1 understand that if more than dne sentence of imprisonment is imposed and I am
eligible to serve the sentences concurrently, the sentencing judg'e has the discretion to order
the sentences served concurrently or cOnsecutively;

I understand that information regarding charges not filed, dismissed charges, or charges
to be dismissed pursuant to this agreement may be considered by the judge at sentencing.

I have not been promised or guaranteed any particular sentence by anyone. I know that
my sentence is to be determined by the Court within the limits prescribed by statute.

I understand that if my attorney or the State of Nevada or both recommend any specific
pumshmcnt to the Court, the Court is not obligated to accept the recommendation.

I understand that if the State of Nevada has agreed to recommend or stipulate a

particular sentence or has agreed not to present argument regarding the sentence, or agreed not

_ to oppose a particular sentence, such agreement is contingent upon my appearance in court on

3 :
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1 || the initial sentencing date (and any subsequent dates if the sentencing is continued). I
2 || understand that if I fail to appéar for the scheduled sentencing date or I commit a new criminal
3 || offense prior to sentencing the State of Nevada would regain the full right to argue for any
4 || lawful sentence.
5 I understahd if the offense(s) to which I am pleading guilty to was committed while I
6 || was iﬁcarcerated on another charge or while I was on probation or parole that I am not ¢ligible
7 || for credit for time served toward the instant offense(s). |
8 I understand that if T am not a United States citizen, any criminal conviction will likely
9 resﬁlt invserious negative immigration consequences including but not limited to:
10 I. The removal from the United Stateé through deportation;
11 2 An inability to reenter the United States;
12 3 The inability to gain United States citizenship or legal residency;
13 4. An ihability to renew and/or retain any legal residency status; and/or
14 5 An indeterminate term of confinement, with the Unitéd States Federal
s Government based on my conviction and immigration status.
16 Régardless of what I have been told by any attorney, no one can promise me that this
17 {| conviction will not result in negative immigration consequences and/or impact my ability to
18 || become a United States citizen and/or a legal resident. |
19 - Tunderstand that P&P will prepare a report for the sentencing judge prior to sentencing.
20 | This report will include matters relevant to the issue of semtencing, including my criminal
21 || history. This report may contain hearsay information regarding my background and criminal
22 || history. My attorney and I will each ha\}e the opportunity to comment on the information
23 || contained in the report at the time of sentencing. Unless the District Attorney has specifically.
24 || agreed otherwise, then the District Attbmey may also comment on this report.
25 WAIVER OF RIGHTS |
26 By entering my plea of guilty, I understand that I am waiving and forever giving up the
27 || following rights and privileges: |
28 || /1
4 :
WCLARKCOUNTYDA NET\CRMCASE2\2020\307\1 1120203071 1C-GPA-(TRUSCA)-001.00CX

AA 0006



O 0 N N L B W e

RN NN NN N NN o e e e e s e e e
0 1 OO U A WN = O W e N Y WD~ O

1. The constitutional privilege against self-incrimination, including the right
to refuse to testify at trial, in ‘which event the prosecution would not be
allowed to comment to the jury about my refusal to testify.

2. The constitutional right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury,
free of excessive pretrial publicity prejudicial to the defense, at which
trial I would be entitled to the assistance of an attorney, either appointed
or retained. At trial the State would bear the burden of proving beyond
a reasonable doubt each element of the offense(s) charged.

3. The constitutional right to confront and cross-examine any witnesses who
would testify against me.

4. The constitutional right to subpoena witnesses to testify on my behalf.

5. The constitutional right to testify in my own defense.

6. The right to appeal the conviction with the assistance of an attorney,
either appointed or retained, unless specifically reserved in writing and
agreed upon as provided in NRS 174.035(3). I understand this means I

am unconditionally waiving my right to a direct appeal of this conviction,
including any challenge based upon reasonable constitutional,

jurisdictional or other %In{mds that challenge the legality of the
proceedings as stated in NRS 177.015(4). However, I remain free to
challenge my conviction through other post-conviction remedies
including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34.

VOLUNTARINESS OF PLEA

I have discussed the elements of all of the original charge(s) against me with my
attorney and I understand the nature of the charge(s) against me. |

I understand that the Stafe would have to prove each element of the _charge(s) against
me at trial. '

I have discussed with my attorney any possible defenses, -defense strategies and
circumstances which might be in my favor. '

All of the foregoing elements, consequences, rights, and waiver of rights have been
thoroughly explained to me by my attorney.

I believe that pleading guilty and accepting fhis. plea bargain is in my best interest, and
that a trial would be contrary to my best interest.

I am signing‘this agreement voluntarily, after consultation with my éttomey, and [ am
not acting under duress or coercion or by virtue of any promises of leniency, except for those

set forth in this agreement.

5
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I am not now under the influence of any intoxicating liquor, a controlled substance or
other drug which would in any manner impair my ability to comprehend or understand this
agreement or the proceedings surrounding my entry of this plea.

My attorney has answered all my questions regarding this guilty plea agreement and its

'DATED this | Ej day of\/Apsu, 2021.
L r 1@

cdnsequences to my satisfac%f‘on and I am satisfied with the services provi gy my attorney.

/

[RISTOPHER TRUSCA, aka,
Christopher Adam Trusca
Defendant :

Chief De District Attorney
Nevada Bar #013577

6
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CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL:

I, the undersigned, as the attorney for the Defendant named herein and as an officer of the court

hereby certify that:

1.

Dated: This ?:f %Tﬁ{hlne, 2021,

mlb/SVU

I have fully explained to the Defendant the allegations contained in the
charge(s) to which guilty pleas are being entered.

I have advised the Defendant of the penalties for each charge and the restitution
that the Defendant may be ordered to pay.

I have inquired of Defendant facts concerning Defendant’s immigration status
and explained to Defendant that if Defendant is not a United States citizen any
criminal conviction will most likely result in serious negative immigration
consequences including but not limited to:

a. The removal from the United States through deportation;

b. An inability to reenter the United States;

C. The inability to gain United States citizenship or legal residency;

d. An inability to renew and/or retain any legal residency status; and/or

. €. An indeterminate term of confinement, by with United States Federal

Government based on the conviction and immigration status.

Moreover, | have explained that regardless of what Defendant may have been
told by any attorney, no one can promise Defendant that this conviction will not
result in negative immigration consequences and/or impact Defendant’s ability
to become a United States citizen and/or legal resident.

All pleas of guilty offered by the Defendant pursuant to this agreement are
consistent with the facts known to me and are made with my advice to the
Defendant.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, the Defendant:

a. Is competent and understaﬁds the charges and the consequences of
pleading guilty as provided in this agreement,

b. Executed tiﬁs‘agreement and will enter all guilty ple:;:ls pursuant hereto
voluntarily, and

C. Was not under the influence of intoxicating liquor, a controlled
substance or other drug at the time I consulted with the Defendant as
certified in paragraphs 1 and 2 above.

V202003071 1120203071 1C-GPA-(TRUSCA)-001.DOCX
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STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
WILLIAM CHARLES ROWLES
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #013577

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671- 2500

Attorney for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
o CASENO:  C-21-356689-]
Plaintiff,
vs. DEPTNO:  XVII

CHRISTOPHER TRUSCA, aka,
Christopher Adam Trusca #2741887,

Defendant. INFORMATION
STA_TE OF NEVADA
5.
COUNTY OF CLARK

STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District Attorney within and for the County of Clark, State
of Nev'ada, in the name and by the authority of the State of Nevada, informs the Court:

That CHRISTOPHER TRUSQA, aka, Christoph_er Adam Trusca, the Defendant above
named, having committed the- crimé of POSSESSION OF VISUAL PRESENTATION
DEPICTING SEXUAL CONDUCT OF A CHILD (Category B Felony - NRS 200.700,
200.730 - NOC 50374), on or about the 16th day of September, 2018, within the County of
Clark, State of Nevada, contrary to the form, force and effect of statutes in such cases made
and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Nevada, did willfully,
unlawfully, felbniousiy, and knowingly have in his possession any film, photograph, or other
visual presentation depicting a child under the age of 16 years of age as the subject of a sexual

portrayal and/or engaging in, simulating, or assisting others to engage in or simulate sexual

E XH I B IT €€ 1V})020\307\1 1\20203071 1C-INFM-(TRUSCA, CHRISTOPHER)-001.DOCX
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conduct on a device, to-wit: a Dropbox Cloud storage account for username "Chris Buddy"
and/or an Apple iPhone X, bearing Serial No. GHLX720KJCLF.

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

BY
“WILEE ARLES ROWLES

Chief Depyt¥ District Attorney

Nevada #013577
20CRHO001251/mlb/SVU
LVMPD EV#181000131108
(TK)
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, CASE#: C-21-356689-1

Plaintiff, DEPT. XVIII
VS.
CHRISTOPHER TRUSCA,

Defendant.

N N N e e e e e e’ e e’ e’

BEFORE THE HONORABLE MARY KAY HOLTHUS,
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
TUESDAY, JUNE 22, 2021

RECORDER’S TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING:
INITIAL ARRAIGNMENT

APPEARANCES:
For the State: JAY P. RAMAN, ESQ.
Deputy District Attorney
For the Defendant: JOHN F. SCHALLER, ESQ.

RECORDED BY: YVETTE G. SISON, COURT RECORDER
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Tuesday, June 22, 2021

[Hearing began at 2:19 p.m.]

THE COURT CLERK: C356689, State of Nevada versus
Christopher Trusca.

MR. SCHALLER: Good Afternoon, Your Honor, John
Schaller, Nevada Bar #15092, standing in for Peter Isso on behalf of the
Defendant, Christopher Trusca, who is also present.

THE COURT: Good Afternoon. | have here a guilty plea
agreement. Is this resolved?

MR. SCHALLER: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: What are the negotiations?

MR. RAMAN: Judge, Mr. Trusca is going to be pleading guilty
to possession of visual presentation depicting sexual contact of a child
or conduct of a child. Both parties retain the right to argue. State will
have no opposition to removing electronic monitoring at entry of plea.

THE COURT: Is that correct State?

MR. RAMAN: Yeah, | said it.

THE COURT: I'm sorry.

MR. RAMAN: | was the one that said the words.

THE COURT: Oh, | looked at you and | didn't -- your mouth --
well you have a mask on. Is that correct?

MR. SCHALLER: That is correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You know, did | mention we've been here since

11 o’clock?

Page 2 AA 0013
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MR. SCHALLER: That is correct, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Okay; and Mr. Trusca is that your

understanding?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes itis, but I'm not on electronic

monitoring right now though. I'm not sure exactly why that was still on

me.

THE COURT: Right. You want to be?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: What’s is your true name?

THE DEFENDANT: Christopher Trusca.

THE COURT: How old are you?

THE DEFENDANT: I'm 31.

THE COURT: Do you read, write, and understand the English

language?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: How far did you go in school?

THE DEFENDANT: I'm sorry?

THE COURT: How far did you go in school?

THE DEFENDANT: Junior in high school.

THE COURT: Do you have any sort of learning disability?
THE DEFENDANT: No, | don't.

THE COURT: Have you recently been treated for mental

illness of addiction?

THE DEFENDANT: Addiction, yes.
THE COURT: What kind?

Page 3 AA 0014




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

THE DEFENDANT: Heroine.

THE COURT: Anything about that that’s making it difficult for
you to understand what’s going on here?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Okay. Are you currently under the influence of
any drug, medication, or alcohol?

THE DEFENDANT: No, I'm not.

THE COURT: Have you reviewed the information charging
you with possession of visual presentation depicting sexual conduct of a
child?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | have ma'am.

THE COURT: And do you understand the nature of the
charges in the information?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you discussed this case with your
attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: | have.

THE COURT: Are you satisfied with the representation and
advice given to you by your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | am, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you plead guilty or not guilty to the charges
in the information?

THE DEFENDANT: | plead guilty, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Are you making this plea freely and voluntarily?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, | am.

Page 4 AA 0015
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THE COURT: Has anyone forced or threatened you or
anyone close to you to get you to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Has anyone made you promises other than
what’s in the guilty plea agreement in order to get you to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: A guilty plea agreement has been filed in this
case. Did you sign this agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | did.

THE COURT: And before you signed it did you read it and
discuss it with your attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | did, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Did your attorney fully and completely answer
all of your questions about your guilty plea?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes he did.

THE COURT: Do you understand everything in the guilty plea
agreement?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | do.

THE COURT: Do you understand that the constitutional and
appellate rights you're giving up by pleading guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you understand if you're not a United States
citizen entering a plea of guilty may have immigration consequences
including deportation?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | do.

Page 5 AA 0016
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THE COURT: Do you understand the range of punishment is
one to six years in the Nevada Department of Corrections, you may be
fined up to $5,0007?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you also understand that pursuant to 176,
because you're pleading guilty to a sexual offense, P&P is going to
arrange a psychosexual evaluation for you, and you won't be eligible for
probation unless that psychosexual evaluations represents that you --
that you don't represent a high risk to re-offend. Do you understand
that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And -- before you're eligible for parole, you will
similarly need to be found not a high risk to re-offend, do you understand
that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | do.

THE COURT: And also as part of your sentence, you will be
required to register as a sex offender, do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: No lifetime supervision? Is that right?

MR. RAMAN: Your Honor, I'm not familiar with whether this
charge carries that or not.

THE COURT: | don't see it in the guilty plea. | don't recall it
being --

MR. SCHALLER: It's not in the guilty plea agreement, Your

Honor.

Page 6 AA 0017
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THE COURT: Okay, we’'ll leave it that then | guess. If there’s
an issue, we'll deal with it later. Do you understand that sentencing is
up to the Court including whether cases or counts run concurrently or
consecutively?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes | do.

THE COURT: And do you understand that no one is in a
position to promise you probation, leniency, or any special treatment?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: In the information, it says that on or about
September 16, 2018, here in Clark County, Nevada you did willfully,
unlawfully, and feloniously have in your possession any film,
photograph, or other visual presentation depicting a child under the age
of 16 as a subject of a sexual portrayal and/or engaging in simulating or
assisting others to engage in simulate sexual conduct on a device that
being a DropBox Cloud storage account for user name Chris Buddy
and/or Apple Iphone X10 bearing serial number ending in JCLF. Is that
what happened?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes itis, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions you'd like to ask
me or your attorney before | accept your plea?

THE DEFENDANT: No ma'am, thank you.

THE COURT: Mr. Raman, is that good?

MR. RAMAN: Yesitis, Your Honor.

THE COURT: The Court finds the Defendant's plea of guilty is

freely and voluntarily made, and the Defendant understands the nature
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of the offense and the consequences of the plea and, therefore, accepts
his plea of guilty. The matter is referred to the Department of Parole and
Probation for a pre-sentence investigation report and set for sentencing -

THE COURT CLERK: October 19", 12:30 p.m.

THE COURT: -- and to the extent -- | know it's not relevant,
but I'll make the record clear that --

MR. SCHALLER: Thank you.

THE COURT: -- pursuant to negotiations, he’s removed from
electronic monitoring; right?

MR. RAMAN: Yes.

THE COURT: Get to P&P within 48 hours all right?

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, okay.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. SCHALLER: Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. RAMAN: Thank you, Your Honor.

[Hearing concluded at 2:26 p.m.]
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Your Honor,

This is every parent’s worse nightmare. | never thought that I will have to write this letter
to the court. I am not here to find excuses for Chris because there is no such a thing. | just
wished that maybe I can help the court to understand the long journey from Christopher’s
childhood until today. Maybe his experience will help some other kids to make the right
decision in life.

Sixteen years ago, Christopher moved to Las Vegas with his mother, grandmother,
Nicky, his brother and two cats. He found himself in a strange place without any roots,
any friends, only surrounded by his family who did the best to guide him. The only friend
he ever had, his only mentor, was my other son, Nicholas.

In July 21% 2005, Kannon, Nicholas’ 9 month old son, died. Nicholas never got over the
guilt of not being able to save his son. A year later, in Sept. 24, 2007, Nicholas died when
he was asleep. It was a tragedy for the whole family but for Christopher it was a
devastating blow. For 15 years, I tried everything within my power to erase Christopher’s
guilt of not showing up at 10 am at his brother’s house. He showed up at 11:00 am
instead. At that time, Nicky was dying and Christopher’s life took a tragic turn for the
worse. He lost his best friend, his mentor, his brother, his best buddy. Nicky was the wall
around Chris protecting him against the bad experiences in life. Between the pain killer,
and drugs, stole 15 years of his life. Depression, anxiety, self doubts and real bad
company became his new world. He was arrested a few times for possession of
paraphernalia. He was left bleeding in the parking lot after a robbery and he spent 17
days in ICU at Saint Rose Hospital not knowing if he can make it. He has been going
non-stop to the detox clinic, keep fighting, keep failing, but he never ever hurt anybody
except himself.

Being under the influence of drugs is absolutely no excuse for him, being charge with this
horrible crime. Through his life, he was almost non-stop surrounded by children
belonging to his best friends’ or girlfriends’ and never ever gave anyone even a hint that
he can hurt them.

On May 7, 2021, his little girl, Elodie, was born. He spent the next 2 months at the
hospital while Elodie was fighting for her life being born with a congenital heart defect.
She was a fighter just like him and finally she came home. His whole world is around
Elodie and even if he is still fighting through this addiction, depression and anxiety he
kept trying to better himself. He is a different person today. He has a real purpose in life.
He is helping me with my business anytime | need it. His mother, grandmother and his
step father, a 20 years detective in Las Vegas, provided full support and all the necessary
help. He completed his probation, paid in full all his fines, never got in trouble, even
when he spent 4 days in jail because of an error on the court system. He came up and kept
on going.

AA 0020
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Your honor, | am just as guilty as my son for being ignorant about the power of drugs and
alcohol, without thinking they can destroy lives. Now I learned my lesson and I hope it’s
not too late. There are a lot of people who can vouch for my son. Please give my son one
more chance. He is all | have left. Thank you.

Sincerely,

Cristian Trusca
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, TUESDAY, OCTOBER 19, 2021, 1:15 P.M.
T——

COURT CLERK: C356689-1, State of Nevada versus Christopher Trusca.

MR. TRUSCA: Good afternoon, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Good afternoon.

MR. LANNING: Good afternoon. John Lanning, bar number 15585, appearing
on behalf of the defendant Christopher Trusca. And filling in for John Schaller. | am,
as well as the Defendant is present via BlueJeans.

THE COURT: Good afternoon. And Mr. Trusca, can you hear us, okay?

MR. TRUSCA: Yes, | can.

THE COURT: Okay. And Mrs. Villegas, are you on this one too?

MR. ROWLES: No, Your Honor. William Rowles, on behalf of the State.

THE COURT: Oh, sorry. | missed you, sorry about that. Um, are we ready for
sentencing?

MR. ROWLES: The State is ready, Your Honor.

MR. LANNING: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Trusca, are you under the influence of any drug,
medication, or alcoholic beverage?

MR. TRUSCA: No, | am not, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You understand that you are here to be sentenced today
because you plead guilty to possession of visual presentation depicting sexual
conduct of a child, Category B Felony?

MR. TRUSCA: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Have you had the opportunity to review, go over the Pre-

Sentence Investigation Report and Psychosexual Evaluation with your attorney?
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MR. TRUSCA: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you have any issues, questions, or concerns with any of the
information contained in those documents?

MR. TRUSCA: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay, does the State have the right to argue on this one?

MR. ROWLES: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

[State’s Argument]

MR. ROWLES: Your Honor, today | am going to be asking that you sentence
the Defendant to a term of incarceration in the Nevada Department of Corrections
for how long I'll submit [massive feedback from BlueJeans] - -

THE COURT: Um, | am sorry we are getting feedback from someone - -

MARSHAL.: It's coming from the attorney [again massive feedback from
someone on BlueJeans] - -

THE COURT: Sorry, let’s pause.

MARSHAL.: It's coming from attorney Mr. Lanning - -

THE COURT: If you are not on this case, please mute yourself. Let’s try that
again. Go ahead, Mr. Rowles.

MR. ROWLES: Yes, Your Honor. Today | am going to be asking this Court to
sentence the Defendant to a term of incarceration in the Nevada Department of
Corrections. The amount I'll submit to this Court's discretion. But | say that for three
reasons; one is, Your Honor, | don’t believe that the PSI accurately reflects the true
extent of the amount of images that were recovered from Mr. Trusca'’s devices or his
online activity. Although only 771 images and 89 videos were ultimately found on his

device, during the course of our investigation - -
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THE COURT: Let me pause you - -

MARSHAL.: It’s attorney John Lanning who is on this case. He needs to mute
himself while he is not speaking.

THE COURT: Counsel, if you could mute yourself because we're getting
feedback.

COURT RECORDER: There he goes.

THE COURT: Okay. Sorry about that, Mr. Rowles.

MR. ROWLES: Yes, Your Honor, as | was saying, when we - - during our
investigation when we issued an administrative subpoena to Dropbox, their return
for the Defendants account had over twenty-nine thousand images associated with
his Dropbox account. Now two thousand four hundred and forty-two images of this
were confirmed child sexual abuse material, ranging as low as individuals at the age
of what we would refer to as toddlers to prepubescent teenagers, all the way to
teenagers. So, | bring that to this Court's attention because | don’t believe that the
PSI accurately reflects the true extent of the amount of images Mr. Trusca had. He
had several thousand images as young as toddlers and prepubescent teenagers on
his Dropbox account when he uploaded those. And finally, but fortunately,
N.C.M.E.C was able to identify and tip that off to law enforcement.

Second, Your Honor, this is not an individual that just downloaded one link,
one time over the course of his voyeurism into this child pornography. His Dropbox
account and his Maga NS link account show that on August 10”‘, 2017, he accessed
ten links of confirmed child sexual abuse material. Again, on August 10”‘, 2017,
nearly twenty minutes after his first access, he accessed an additional twenty links.
Now again, on September 13", 2017, he accesses eleven links. On September 15",

2017, he accesses twenty-five links. On August 23", 2018, he accesses eighty-six
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links. On April 9™, 2019, he accesses seven links. On May 5", 2019, he accesses
sixteen links, and all of this is confirmed child sexual abuse material. And on May
20™ and May 26™, 2019, he accesses a total of twenty-one links. And total, we
uncovered one hundred and ninety-seven links that he downloaded for child
pornography.

So, the PSI sort of reads, and the Psychosexual Evaluation sort of reads that
this was an individual who, on one occasion, downloaded a link and viewed a couple
of thousand images of child pornography. That’s not the case, Your Honor. This is
an individual that, over the course of two years, downloaded a hundred and ninety-
six links of child sexual abuse material. | say that because | take a big difference
between an individual who may be browsing the internet and stumbles across a link
where you have age difficult type situations, where the girl could be twenty-years-
old, or the girl could be fourteen-years-old. And you look at it one time, and then you
delete it. This individual viewed child pornography as young as toddlers over the
course of several years. | think that type of active online warrants punitive
punishment, and that’s why | am asking this Court to sentence him to prison.

Now | don’t get the opportunity to respond to the Defendant’s statements and
migration. But the theme of this case over the last several years or the last year that
| have been assigned to it has been that Mr. Trusca has suffered from an opioid
addiction. And, Your Honor, | am sympathetic towards drug addiction, and | am
sympathetic towards drug addiction that causes an individual to commit property
crimes or cause an individual to commit financial crimes to support their addiction. |
don’t accept, and | don’t support the idea that drug addiction causes you to view
child pornography for several years. His opioid addiction did not cause him to view a

video of a prepubescent teenager masturbating and being forced to perform oral sex
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on an adult male. That’s just not how drug addiction works, in the State’s opinion.
And | ask this Court, and | urge this Court to sort of disregard drug addition. He's not
here because he was feeding his addiction; he was here because he was viewing
child pornography over the course of several years. And for that reason, Your
Honor, | ask that you sentence him to prison, and in that, I'll submit.
THE COURT: Thank you very much. Defense counsel?
[Defense Argument]

MR. LANNING: Yes, Your Honor, we would ask that he have a suspended
sentence and be placed on supervised probation. A few different things, one if we
look at the PSI report, it clearly indicates that Mr. Trusca is - - he is not a sufficient
risk, and he would do just fine on supervised probation. Furthermore, if you look at
the Psychosexual Report, it shows that he has been sober from opiates for quite
some time now, | believe five months from the time the report was made.

Additionally, he also - - as long as there are certain terms and conditions,
there is no risk - - opposes a very low risk of recidivism, ah as far as monitoring his
communication and computer, which again, is the main issue.

THE COURT: Thank you very much. Mr. Trusca, is there anything you would
like to say?

[Mr. Trusca’s Statement to the Court]

MR. TRUSCA: Um, yeah, | mean | have lots to say, Your Honor. | am
absolutely, you know, | completely do understand how, you know, someone can say
it's not drugs. And | am not going to say it's not drugs, or it's heroin that made me do
anything specific; it's was - - it was a whole portion of my life, Your Honor. | lost my
brother when | was seventeen; um, he was my best friend, and | kind of just went on

this bad downward spiral. | was in a place - - | don’t know if you've ever been in a
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place where you just don’t - - in your own head, you don’t ever know if you're going
to actually get out of it. And | was in a very, very dark and bad place in my life. And it
took me a long time, and | am still working on it every single day.

| am actually a father now, um, if, you know, and finally, for the first time in my
entire life, | have a reason. Um, an actual purpose, and - - | want to wake up every
single morning and be the best that | can be. | don’t think | could actually ever say
that there’s been a time in my life where | could say that, honestly, until now. | see
my daughter’s face, and my whole life is finally - - | see what - - | see what is going
to make my whole life really mean something again. And it's the first time since my
brother has been gone, | actually feel like | have a chance, and there is something
good going on here, and I’'m happy.

You know, I‘'ve always been around, you know, I've been around my entire
life, you know, and I’'ve obviously just decided to start growing up [inaudible] they
can vouch for me, I've never done anything. And | would never hurt anybody, let
alone children ever. It's just something and - - it a couple of years now and where |
was then and where | am today is someone very different. Um, | literally stopped
everything in my life that was, your know, that brings me to where | was, and | can'’t -
- I was in a bad place, and | was in a bad place, | was in the hospital, | was on life
support, and | was in a very, very bad place for a while. And anyway, | don’t want to
get too far off-topic. | appreciate everybody's time here; | - - | just want you to please
consider the fact that | am trying - - I'm trying my very best, Your Honor, | truly am.

THE COURT: Thank you.

[Court’s Ruling]
THE COURT: Are you a Veteran or a member of the military?
MR. TRUSCA: No, | am not, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: Thank you. The Court is going to adjudge defendant Trusca
guilty: possession of visual presentation depicting sexual conduct of a child, as a
Category B Felony. Four days credit time served, twenty-five dollar Administrative
Assessment, three dollar DNA Administrative Assessment, submit to DNA testing,
and that fee is hundred and fifty dollars. Psychosexual fee one thousand six
hundred seventy-six dollars and seventy cents.

Per N.R.S.179D.460. defendant Trusca shall register as a sex offender within
48 hours after sentencing or release from custody. And comply with the required
terms and conditions set forth under N.R.S. 176A.410. Minimum term nineteen
months, maximum term forty-eight months, to be served in the Nevada Department
of Corrections. The harm and conduct here is immense, and a prison term is
warranted. Defendant Trusca to report immediately to CCDC, and we need to set a
status check for next week to make sure he is in custody.

MR. TRUSCA: What.

COURT CLERK: And that will be October 26”‘, 2021, at 11:00 a.m.

COURT CLERK: And Judge, | don’t think N.R.S 176A applies.

THE COURT: Okay, okay. So, 176A does not apply.

MR. ROWLES: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you.

[Proceedings concluded, 1:29 p.m.]

**x **ATTEST: |do hereby certify that | have truly and correctly transcribed the
audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability.
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Tuesday, October 26, 2021, Las Vegas, Nevada

[Proceedings began at 12:41 p.m.]

THE COURT: -- 56689-1. He is being --

MR. ROWLES: Good morning, Your Honor, William Rowles --

THE COURT: -- brought in. Is this -- are you Mr. Schaller?

MR. LANNING: I'm filling in for Mr. Schaller. I'm John Lanning with the
same law firm.

THE COURT: Okay. Can you give us your bar number?

MR. LANNING: 15585.

THE COURT: And did you say Manning?

MR. LANNING: John Lanning.

THE COURT: Lanning. Okay, thank you.

All right so Mr. Trusca is present out of custody. Today is the time for
surrender, is that correct?

MR. LANNING: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. So the defendant has shown up in person.
He’s present with Mr. Trusca, both in open. Ms. Villegas is present on behalf of --
or Mr. Rowles is present on behalf of the State. The defendant was previously
sentenced to 19 to 48 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections and today
he is just surrendering and will be taken in custody to serve that sentence.

MR. LANNING: Yes, Your Honor. He did want permission to address
the Court --

THE COURT: Oh --

MR. LANNING: --if possible.
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THE COURT: -- sure. Mr. Trusca?

THE DEFENDANT: [I've actually just -- is there any possible way | can
get just a little -- like a little short amount of time to handle a couple of affairs? |
have a daughter and it's -- I'm the sole provider of her and my fiancé. And she just
-- she gonna be having a heart -- she has a heart issue and she going to be going
in for a small surgery in the next couple of weeks. | just wanna make sure that
there -- everything is okay before that. | just -- it’s like biggest thing I'm afraid of is
like I'm not gonna be there to make sure that they are okay to do so.

THE COURT: What is the day of the surgery?

THE DEFENDANT: It will be the 6™ of -- 15" of next month.

THE COURT: November 157

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah.

THE COURT: Mr. Rowles your position.

MR. ROWLES: Your Honor, the only concern | have is that he's not
on any sort of form of monitoring at this particular time. | wouldn’t have any
objection to allowing him to taking care of his medical -- or his daughter’s medical
procedures if he agrees to be placed on either mid-level or high-level electronic
monitoring to ensure he doesn'’t flee. | mean --

THE COURT: Okay. So you have to be on high-level electronic
monitoring if you wish to stay out, and then we can do a date of surrender after,
like a week after your daughter’s surgery.

THE DEFENDANT: That would be great.

THE COURT: Okay. So the defendant will be places on electronic --
high-level electronic monitoring and his return date is?

THE CLERK: Thatll be November 23 at 11:00.
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THE COURT: Okay. All right?
THE DEFENDANT: Awesome. Thank you very much. | appreciate it.
THE COURT: You’re welcome.
MR. ROWLES: Thank you, Judge
[Proceedings concluded at 12:44 p.m.]
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DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, Case No.: C-21-356689-1
Dept. No: VI
Plaintiff,
MOTION TO MODIFY SENTENCE
Vs.
[Hearing Requested]
CHRISTOPHER TRUSCA,
Defendant.

COMES NOW, Defendant, Christopher Trusca, by and through his attorney, Jamie J.
Resch, Esq., and hereby respectfully moves this Court, pursuant to NRS 176.555, for a new
sentencing hearing due to the illegality or unconstitutionality of the Defendant’s currently
imposed sentence.

DATED this 8th day of November, 2021.

RESCH LAW, PLLC d/b/a Convj

ME J. RESCH ~—
Attorney for Defendant

Solutions
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE
I hereby certify that service of the Motion to Modify Sentence was made this 8th day of
November, 2021, by Electronic Filing Service to:

Clark County District Attorney’s Office

EM

An Em 2e of Conviction Solutions

PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Christopher Trusca (“Trusca”) was convicted by way of guilty plea of one count of
possession of visual presentation depicting sexual conduct of a child, a category B felony under
NRS 200.700 and 200.730. According to the plea agreement, all sides reserved the right to
argue.

Sentencing occurred on October 19, 2021. At that time, the Honorable Joe Hardy
presided over the proceedings. Despite the strong support in the record for the grant of
probation, Trusca was sentenced to 19 to 48 months in state prison. On October 26, 2021, this
Court allowed Mr. Trusca additional time in which to surrender, potentially because of extreme
health problems related to his five-month-old daughter. On November 2, 2021, undersigned
counsel substituted into the case for purposes of appeal. It is Mr. Trusca's intent to appeal his

conviction and sentence.
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Before appealing however, Mr. Trusca presents this Court with an opportunity to modify
the previously imposed sentence by way of a new sentencing proceeding. Based on the
information provided in this motion, there are strong grounds to reconsider the previously
imposed sentence.

IL.

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

Mr. Trusca's position is two-fold. First, the Nevada Supreme Court has held that a
sentence can be modified at any time, effectively for any reason, prior to the time the Defendant
begins to serve it. Because this Court previously granted Mr. Trusca time to surrender, he has
not yet started to serve his sentence. As a result, the Court can simply reconsider it for any
reason. Alternatively, the sentence imposed by Judge Hardy was illegal in that it relied upon
materially untrue facts, occurred remotely over a connection poor enough to violate due
process, and was attenuated by a lack of preparation by counsel that rendered the proceedings
fundamentally unfair.

To be sure, many of these issues could just be raised in a direct appeal. That said, the
appeal process takes many months and Mr. Trusca hopes this Court can provide a more
expedient route to relief. Relatedly, while a motion pursuant to NRS 176.555 can be filed at any
time, this Court would likely lose jurisdiction over this request once the notice of appeal is filed.
Mr. Trusca therefore asks the Court to reconsider the sentence of imprisonment.

A. The Court can modify Mr. Tusca’s sentence because he has not started to serve

it yet, and it was imposed in an inaccurate and unconstitutional manner.

Nevada law provides that an illegal sentence may be corrected at any time. NRS
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176.555. As such, there is no question the instant motion is timely and properly presented for
this Court's consideration. As a starting point, Mr. Trusca has not yet started to serve his
sentence. The Court is therefore inherently empowered to reconsider it without any further

showing. Campbell v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 114 Nev. 410, 413, 957 P.2d 1141 (1998) (District

Court lacks jurisdiction to modify sentence once defendants “began to serve” said sentences).
Even where the Defendant has begun to serve a sentence, there are exceptions which
permit the District Court to modify it. The Nevada Supreme Court has explained:

We emphasize that a motion to modify a sentence is limited in scope to
sentences based on mistaken assumptions about a defendant’s criminal record
which work to the defendant’s extreme detriment. Motions to correct illegal
sentences address only the facial legality of a sentence. An “illegal sentence” for
purposes of a statute identical to NRS 176.555 was defined by the District of
Columbia Court of Appeals as “one ‘at variance with the controlling sentencing
statute,’ or “illegal” in the sentence that the court goes beyond its authority by
acting without jurisdiction or imposing a sentence in excess of the statutory
maximum provided...” Allen v. United States, 495 A.2d 1145, 1149 (D.C. 1985)
(quoting Prince v. United States, 432 A.2d 720, 721 (D.C. 1981) and Robinson v.
United States, 454 A.2d 810, 813 (D.C. 1982)). A motion to correct an illegal
sentence “presupposes a valid conviction and may not, therefore, be used to
challenge alleged errors in proceedings that occur prior to the imposition of
sentence.” Id. A motion to correct an illegal sentence is an appropriate vehicle
for raising the claim that the sentence is facially illegal at any time; such a motion
cannot, however, be used as a vehicle for challenging the validity of a judgment
of conviction or sentence based on alleged errors occurring at trial or sentencing.
Issues concerning the validity of a conviction or sentence, except as detailed in
this opinion, must be raised in habeas proceedings.

Edwards v. State, 112 Nev. 704, 918 P.2d 321, 324 (1996).

The Nevada Supreme Court further explained that, as a matter of due process, “the
district court has inherent authority to correct, vacate, or modify a sentence that is based on a

materially untrue assumption or misstatement of fact that has worked to the extreme detriment
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of the defendant, but only if the mistaken sentence ‘is the result of the sentencing judge’s
misapprehension of a defendant’s criminal record.” Id. at 324.

The Nevada Supreme Court’s decision in Edwards reflects federal law, which recognizes a
“due process right to a fair sentencing procedure which includes the right to be sentenced on

the basis of accurate information.” United States v. Rone, 743 F.2d 1169, 1171 (7th Cir. 1984),

citing United States v. Tucker, 404 U.S. 443 (1972). A sentence “must be set aside where the

defendant can demonstrate that false information formed part of the basis for the sentence.” Id
Crucially, the Nevada Supreme Court has held that sentencing based on erroneous
information, such as incorrect information supplied by the prosecution, can justify granting a

modification of a previously imposed sentence. State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct.,, 100 Nev. 90,

100-101, 677 P.2d 1044 (1984). This is so even where the misrepresentations are “unintentional.”
Id.

Under these authorities, it is Mr. Trusca’s position that the Court is empowered to

reconsider the sentence previously imposed.

B. The case should be resentenced because the original sentencing was based on
inaccurate information and conducted in an unconstitutional manner in
violation of Mr. Trusca’s rights to due process and fundamental fairness.

Assuming the Court were to agree that it could reconsider Mr. Trusca's sentence, there

are several reasons why it should do so.

First, materially untrue information was considered at sentencing and it likely affected

the sentence. While Mr. Trusca has a record of minor traffic and drug offenses, going into

sentencing in this matter he had zero felony convictions and had never received an opportunity
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at formal probation. He should have been a strong candidate for probation, yet the sentencing
judge sentenced this first time felon to a sentence of imprisonment.

This may have occurred based on the prosecutions’ representations that drug use does
not generally lead of a child porn addiction. What's “generally” true is not pertinent, because
sentencing is an individualized decision-making process. In Mr. Trusca’s case, there was credible
evidence available both within and outside the record that would have explained the link
between substance abuse and viewing child pornography.

Publicly available scholarly research has in fact studied this exact relationship, and initial
findings show a correlation between those who view child pornography and drug abuse. Jung
et al found that over half of CP users admitted to drug use, with a slight increase in admitted
drug abuse for non-contact offenders (p.35, table 3). Jung notably compares this to their
alcohol use: "Although the samples did not differ in their use of alcohol around the time
preceding the index offence, non-contact offenders were more likely than child pornography
and child molesters to have used drugs” (p.18). Sandy Jung, Liam Ennis, Shayla Stein, Alberto L.
Choy & Tarah Hook (2013) Child pornography possessors: Comparisons and contrasts with
contact- and non-contact sex offenders, Journal of Sexual Aggression, 19:3, 295-310, DOL:
10.1080/13552600.2012.741267.

Further, Carnes' 2005 study on "Addiction Interaction Disorder" linked sex addiction
(including porn addiction) to other addictions, finding that slightly under half of the survey sex
addicts suffered from a chemical dependency of some kind (pp.80-84, Tables 2-4). Carnes offers
several explanations for the linked addictions. First, Carnes finds that addictions can form a

"Cross Tolerance" addiction, where two (or more) addictions ramp up simultaneously - ie, "the
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patient whose drinking and machine poker playing got worse at the same time. It is the parallel
leap in activity that should catch the clinician’s attention” (pp. 87-89). Another is the "Fusion
Dependence" or "Intensification" addiction. Carnes provides an example similar to the scenario
here: “Think of the cocaine addict who has certain compulsive sexual behaviors and only does
them on cocaine. He does not do the sex separate from the cocaine, nor will he do the cocaine
without the sexual behavior. The addictions have become fused or inseparable” (pp.95-

97). Patrick J. Carnes, Robert E. Murray & Louis Charpentier (2005) Bargains With Chaos: Sex
Addicts and Addiction Interaction Disorder, Sexual Addiction & Compulsivity, 12:2-3, 79-120,
DOQI: 10.1080/10720160500201371.

But the record here contained similar information that conflicted with the prosecutions’
representations. The psychosexual evaluation, tersely reasoned as it was, identified three bases
for its conclusion that Mr. Trusca was a moderate risk to reoffend: 1) the number of images at
issue, 2) the death of Mr. Trusca's brother and best friend (which coincides with the time Mr.
Trusca started to use illegal drugs and dropped out of school) and 3) Mr. Trusca’s substantial
history of substance abuse to include Xanax and heroin at the time of the offenses here.

The record here shows viewing child pornography cannot be separated from Mr. Trusca’s
drug use, and as noted above, treating one disorder may well resolve the other. Although
various treatment options exist for sex offenders, it is well understood that substance abusers
have a multitude of treatment options available, many of which are unquestionably available to
individuals on probation in Clark County, Nevada.

Second, as the Court knows from proceedings after the sentencing, Mr. Trusca has an

infant daughter who is seriously ill due to being born with two holes in her heart. She had to
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remain in the hospital for a month after birth, and is now undergoing treatment that may
ultimately require surgery. See Exhibit A, “Medical Record.”

Third, the sentencing proceeding was conducted in an unconstitutional manner in as
much as not only was it held remotely, but Mr. Trusca and his counsel were not in the same
location together during the hearing. In essence, Mr. Trusca was unrepresented because he had
no ability whatsoever to communicate with his attorney private during the sentencing hearing.
See Exhibit B, “Declaration of Christopher Trusca.”

Briefly stated, a criminal defendant has a constitutional right to be present “at any stage
of the criminal proceeding that is critical to its outcome if his presence would contribute to the

fairness of the procedure.” Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730, 745 (1987). Furthermore, “even in

situations where the defendant is not actually confronting witnesses or evidence against him, he
has a due process right 'to be present in his own person whenever his presence has a relation,
reasonably substantial, to the fulness of his opportunity to defend against the charge.”” Id.,

quoting Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 105-106 (1934).

Sentencing hearings are unquestionably a “critical stage” proceeding. Beals v. State, 106
Nev. 729, 731, 802 P.2d 2, 4 (1990). As a result, Mr. Trusca not only enjoyed a constitutional
right to be present at the time of sentencing, he also enjoyed the right to counsel at the time of

sentencing. Patterson v. State, 129 Nev. 168, 174, 298 P.3d 433 (2013) (Sixth Amendment right

to counsel applies to all critical stage proceedings), see also United States v. Chronic, 466 U.S.

648 (1984).
These rights were violated here in at least two ways. First, the concept that the

sentencing was held remotely over Bluejeans at all is, in and of itself, a violation of due process.
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United States v. Williams, 641 F.3d 758, 764-65 (6 Cir. 2011) (noting that "all” federal circuits to

consider the issue have determined presence by video conference at sentencing violates the
defendant’s right to be present for sentencing). This is all the more true here where the record
demonstrates significant technical difficulties impeded communication between the parties and
court, to include a poor connection as well as several interruptions by nonparticipants who
declined to mute themselves.

Second, even if virtual sentencing was consistent with the defendant’s right to be present
for critical stage proceedings, an additional violation occurred here where counsel and Mr.
Trusca were not in the same location during the proceeding. Because that was so, Mr. Trusca
was denied his right to counsel because he had no ability to privately communicate with counsel
during the proceeding.

This led to several errors, such as that Mr. Trusca was forced to agree with his counsel
that he had reviewed the presentence report and psychosexual report with counsel prior to
sentencing when he in fact was unable to do so. This is borne out in part by the attached
declaration (Exhibit B) as well as counsel’s billing records. See Exhibit C, "Billing Records.”
According to the invoice, which does not identify the author of the billing records at issue,
counsel obtained the PSI and psychosexual reports on October 18, 2021, which was the day
prior to sentencing. Further, there is no indication in the invoice that the documents were
transmitted to the client. Further, there is a single block billing entry that identifies a .4 charge
for discussion of those documents with the client both “prior to sentencing and after sentencing

hearing” which Mr. Trusca disputes in the first instance.
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It is Mr. Trusca's representation to this Court that he did not have an opportunity to
review those documents with his counsel, and as a result, his counsel was woefully unprepared
to argue at the time of sentencing. Notably, no sentencing memorandum was filed, and counsel
who represented Mr. Trusca at the time of sentencing was an attorney who had made zero
appearances in the case prior to the time of sentencing.

But the issue isn't just ineffective preparation for sentencing, but also a denial of due
process and fundamental fairness during sentencing. Mr. Trusca had no ability to provide input
to counsel as the sentencing proceeded because he could not privately consult with him. As
one commentator has explained for parole revocation proceedings where the defendant and
defense counsel appear separately by video:

The physical separation of a parolee from counsel inevitably takes its toll on the

effectiveness of the counsel, and this effect is most strongly felt by the communication

between them. Some courts have tried to curb this problem by providing telephone lines
that allow for privileged communication. However, this practice still cannot replace the
quality of the attorney-client relationship created by in-person interaction. . .. [T]he
human interactions that foster the relationship are muted by the technology, which
detracts from the defendant’s experience. Likewise, counsel cannot gauge the
defendant’s mental and emotional state, and neither party can use nonverbal cues to
communicate with each other during a proceeding, both of which are necessary to

effective communication.

Kacey Marr, The Right to "Skype"”: The Due Process Concerns of Videoconferencing at Parole

Revocation Hearings, 81 U. Cin. L. Rev. 1515, 1533-34 (2013) (footnotes omitted).

Mr. Trusca isn't unmindful of the troubles caused by the pandemic, but at the time of his
sentencing, those were largely in the rearview mirror. The District Court's latest order related to
the pandemic was issued in June, and plainly states that out of custody defendants “shall”

appear in person for “sentencings where the negotiation contemplates a prison or jail

10
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sentence...” Exhibit D, “Administrative Order,” p. 20 of 27. As a result, even under the District
Court’s own guidelines, Mr. Trusca and his counsel should have been present in person. A “face-
to-face meeting between the defendant and the judge permits the judge to experience ‘those
impressions gleaned through . .. any personal confrontation in which one attempts to assess the

credibility or to evaluate the true moral fiber of another.” United States v. Thompson, 599 F.3d

595, 600 (7" Cir. 2010) (quoting Del Piano v. United States, 575 F.2d 1066, 1069 (3d Cir. 1978)).

C. Mr. Trusca was in custody from November 2 to November 4. The judgment of
conviction must be amended to include three additional days credit for time
served.

If the Court otherwise denies this motion and compels Mr. Trusca to start serving his
sentence, an additional three days credit should be added to the four days already stated in the
judgment of conviction. As this Court knows, Mr. Trusca was granted additional time to remain
out of custody, after sentencing, largely related to his daughter’s health issues. He was ordered
to get fitted for an ankle bracelet, which he went to do on November 2, 2021.

When he did, he was taken into custody and held on a no bail hold, in this case, until he
was fitted with an ankle bracelet and released on November 4, 2021. All of this should be
readily verifiable with the Clark County Detention Center. There is no known reason for the jail
to have held Mr. Trusca for three days, as this Court never remanded him into custody and
certainly never issued a no-bail hold.

Putting that aside, if nothing else, Mr. Trusca should receive credit for those three days if
he is ordered to start serving his sentence. The law is well settled in that “all time served after

sentencing is time served pursuant to the conviction and is included in the computation of time

11
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served.” Contreras v. Palmer, 2014 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1737 (2014). All time served must be

credited towards the defendant’s ultimate sentence. Kuykendall v. State, 112 Nev. 1285, 926

P.2d 781 (1996).

While certainly not the gravest issue Mr. Trusca presents, his judgment of conviction
should be corrected to reflect these additional three days. Doing so nearly doubles his credit for
time served and ensures he will receive proper credit if incarcerated.

IIL.
CONCLUSION

Based on the points and authorities presented herein, Defendant requests this
Honorable Court grant this motion and order a new (in-person) sentencing proceeding.
Alternatively, Defendant requests the judgment of conviction be modified to reflect the seven
days served in this case.

DATED this 8th day of November, 2021.

Submitted By:

RESCH LAW, PLLC d/b/a Conviction Solutions

By: _—
MIE J. RESCH
Attorney for Petitioner
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“Henderson Hospital

Respiratory
Diagnosis Start Date End Date
Tachypnea <= 28D 5/8/2021  5/29/2021
History '

Tachypnea noted on admit. Maintaining normal saturations in room air without significant distress. 5/14 Started on lasix
per cardiology recommendations due to underlying cardiac defect. There was noteable improvement in tachypnea with
lasix.

" Plap

Cardiovascular

Diagnosis Start Date End Date
Murmur - other 5111/2021  5/11/2021
Ventricular Septal Defect 5/12/2021
Atrial Septal Defect 5/12/2021
Peripheral Pulmonary Stenosis 5/12/2021

History

Murmur on exam 5/11. Echocradiogram done on 5/12 showed moderate muscular VSD w/ L->R shunt, moderate
undum ASD, mild RAE, bilateral PPS. 5/14 Discussed with Dr. Kwan and Dr. Galindo. they know of ongoing
tachypnea - recommended BNP as baseline and starting lasix. 5/15 proBNP 2288- Dr. Akerman of cardiology
recommends to continue lasix and repeat in 1 week. If the infant remains tachypneic then will repeat BNP in 1-2 days
and consider increasing lasix dosing to TID. 5/21 pro BNP 1717 Discussed with Dr. Alexander on 5/22 recommended

showed: Large fenestrated secundum ASD (left to right), mild to moderate right heart dilatation, small posterior muscular
VSD (left to right shunt) and a trivial PPS.

Assessment

Echocardiogram 6/1 showed large fenestrated secundum ASD (left to right), mild to moderate right heart dilatation,
small posterior muscular VSD (left to right shunt) and trivial PPS, No signs of heart failure. Infant is asymptomatic.

Plan

Monitor for signs of heart failure.
Continue Lasix ~1mg/kg/dose BID.
Follow up with cardiol 1-2
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1.

2.

i sl s i o

DECLARATION OF CHRISTOPHER TRUSCA

Christopher Trusca does hereby declare:

That Declarant is the defendant in State v. Christopher Trusca.

That Declarant accepted a plea offer and was sentenced on October 19, 2021.

The sentencing was held remotely over the Internet. This wasn't my preference,
especially since | was in a different physical location during sentencing than my
attorney, and therefore had no way to communicate privately with him. My attorney
only participated by audio and | didn’t even actually see him during the hearing.

I've reviewed the invoice indicating an attorney talked to me the day of sentencing,
but before the sentencing hearing. | dispute this, | definitely did not talk to my
attorney the day of sentencing, prior to the sentencing.

At sentencing | stated | had no objections to the presentence report or psychosexual
report, but | was just following my attorney’s lead during sentencing. In fact, | had
not reviewed those documents before sentencing at all, nor did my attorney even tell
me anything about what was in them.

During sentencing, | participated by video on a telephone, the connection was poor
and | wasn't able to hear everything. | observed other court proceedings while
waiting for my matter to be called, and there were many interruptions by others and
the moderator repeatedly had to intervene. Also nonparticipants kept interrupting
and the judge had to repeatedly tell them to be quiet.

| was not able to communicate privately with my attorney during sentencing and
therefore couldn’t provide him points to argue on my behalf such as those raised in
the motion to modify sentence. | wasn't capable of making those arguments myself
which is a big reason | hired an attomney in the first place.

On October 26, 2021, the Court allowed me to remain out of custody until November

23" mostly due to my daughter's health. She is approximately five months old and
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was born with two holes in her heart. She is in the process of getting scheduled for
surgery to repair the holes. She is seriously ill and | am providing some medical

records with the motions to document that fact.

9. If release on bail is continued, | will continue to make all court appearances and

adhere to all court orders.

| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

11/813
Executed on
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Isso & Associates Law Firm, PLLC INVOICE

8275 S Eastern Ave Suite 200 Invoice # 1917
Las Vegas, NV 89123 Date: 10/21/2021
United States Due On: 11/20/2021

Christopher Trusca

00120-Trusca

Criminal - 20CRH001251

Type Date Notes Quantity Rate Total

Service 10/18/2021 Contacted Department Chambers to obtain PSI report 0.30 $300.00 $90.00
for client Christopher Trusca. Arranged for delivery of
documents via email once John Schaller, Esq. confirms
with clerk that she is authorized to send to me.

Service 10/18/2021 Obtained PSI report and pshycho sexual evaluation 1.40 $300.00 $420.00
and reviewed in preparation for sentencing hearing.

Service 10/19/2021 Attended Court via bluejeans and represented client in 2.50 $300.00 $750.00
sentencing hearing.

Service  10/19/2021 Phone consultation with client prior to sentencing and 0.40 $300.00 $120.00
after sentencing hearing.

Service  10/19/2021 Telephonic conference with client’s father Cristian 1.10 $300.00 $330.00
Trusca

Service 10/19/2021 Took over phone call with client from Peter Isso, Esq. 0.40 $300.00 $120.00

and discussed the events of earlier that day with client's
father around 11p.m. same day as sentencing. Told
him | would look into what can be done and update him
tomorrow afternoon.

Service 10/19/2021 phone conferences with John Lanning and Peter Isso 0.70 $300.00 $210.00
regarding sentencing

Service  10/20/2021 phonecall with Peter Isso and conference call with 0.60 $300.00 $180.00
Peter Isso and Kirk Hamblin regarding sentencing

Total $2,220.00

Please make all amounts payable to: Isso & Associates Law Firm, PLLC

Please pay within 30 days.

Page 1 of 1
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE MATTER
REGARDING ALL COURT OPERATIONS IN

RESPONSE TO COVID-19. Administrative Order: 21-04

On March 12, 2020, Governor Steve Sisolak issued a Declaration of Emergency in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The next day, March 13, 2020, the President of the United
States declared a nationwide emergency pursuant to §501(6) of the Robert T. Stanford Disaster
Relief and Emergency Assistance Act. 42 U.S.C. §§5121-5207.

After an initial reopening of businesses in 2020, on November 11, 2020, Governor Sisolak
announced an alarming increase in new COVID-19 cases in Nevada. The Governor requested all|
individuals to stay in as much as possible, limit gatherings and wear face coverings at all times.
Clark County also issued a requirement for employees to wear face coverings at all times. On
February 15, 2021, Governor Sisolak increased the limit for gathering sizes based on the
decreasing COVID-19 numbers and the increased availability of vaccinations.

On April 27, 2021, the State of Nevada’s COVID-19 Mitigation and Management Task
Force approved Clark County’s Proposed Local Mitigation and Enforcement Plan effective May
1, 2021. The approved plan increased capacity restrictions for public gatherings to 80 percen
occupancy and reduced social distance requirements from six to three feet. On May 18, 2021, thej
Clark County Board of Commissioners approved elimination of all capacity and social distancing]
requirements effective June 1, 2021. Clark County also, with certain exceptions, approved thej
elimination of mask requirements for those who are vaccinated.

The Nevada Constitution provides in Article 3 §1 that, “The powers of the Government of
the State of Nevada shall be divided into three separate departments, - the Legislative, - the
Executive and the Judicial; and no persons charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging
to one of these departments shall exercise any functions, appertaining to either of the others, except
in the cases expressly directed or permitted in this constitution.” The Nevada Supreme Court has

also found that “In addition to the constitutionally expressed powers and functions of eachi
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Department, each (the Legislative, the Executive, and the Judicial) possess inherent and incidental
powers that are properly termed ministerial. Ministerial functions are methods of implementation
to accomplish or put into effect the basic function of each Department.” Galloway v. Truesdell|
83 Nev. 13, 21, 422 P.2d 234, 237 (1967).

The judicial power is vested in the st